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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM

mean that it is @ market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.
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Corporate Review
NGICINE

1997

e Establishment of the Group e Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System
o AEER T e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions
Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management

System (SKMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property
1998 Office of the People’s Republic of China
e Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong
e Development of technologies and applications Kong

Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public
Traffic Card Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of
value-added solutions and services to its user community
Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments
for marketing, sales and support of its product ranges
Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

Receiving of Caring Company Award

E{51SO 9001:20007 B EIR A FRH
HEH—FFIISO15693F M R AR R

LAISO15693 A A SRR A EE R R EF R FRETEBER
HAAEERENRZE
BIEANAEIEISO15693 B HZR ALK T2
HEBARZTBRROBERD ST KRBT ZE  AEHAFH
RAIRERR S RRRHE

HEEREMNERARNBFT IR - AEHERFEE  HER
*E

* FAMULTOSHI#4TR

s B BARBEIER

o ol FE AR 8

1999

e Launched hardware products for smartcard system under
the trademark of "HOMAC"
e Awarded with important smartcard and RFID projects in Hong Kong
* LL[HOMAC ] Wzt ME Rt LR Bk FAGEANERER
s REBIUSZEERE R FRAEHAITE

2000

e Winning of 2000 HK Industry Award
s IS=ZTTHFRBIHER

2001

e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong 2003

Kong Limited G hical on into M
e Geographical expansion into Macao
e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary: ITE (China) Limited in g. P p )
Shanghai e Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore,
i

LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System
(APMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of
the People’s Republic of China

e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award

e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco Holdings Limited and
Quesco Systems Limited on 7 December 2001

s NEBHAREMARARRIZERTS LS

e RHPEl BRI Z2EMBAR @ LBMKERAGERAT

s IE=ZT—FRBIHER

e RZEE—F+ At AKRBATEEEMUNEMNERGENRE — EREH
ERERDARENASEBERAR

e Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology
companies by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia
Pacific Technology Fast 500"

° ERIMREIRM

° & Transcore, LP ZEBBEIRZH

c HikE BEBRERASEN R BFRTEERANHEEREF

SE$z
o EREH BMERSSHMITHEAE _ETALESRES
A R50038 | REBETIER
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Corporate Review
NGIIEN =

e Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macao SAR Customs Services “Automated Vehicle
Clearance System" & Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau “Automated
Passenger Clearance System”

e Successfully completed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

o B EERL (RFY) BROF

* BIVEEUEMERITHESHE [EHABEHRAR IR
REZBEEHR [REEBBEAZRS | T2

* MIUFTALISO 9001: 2000 FFEERE B EE RS E

o EEMFENEBRARBZE]EE

e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 — Machinery and
Equipment Design Award” for Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS™)

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management System of the Construction
Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

o Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

e Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for the Hong Kong Red
Cross Blood Transfusion Service

o [MEEHBHAK | XE_STRRBIRES — HESRBERFE

o BMEUZEXT AGEMEERNEMIEMERRANENIRE

o FERIFERBIBISO 9001:2000 7 B A& R L WHEZ

* BN ARE BB HIIA2005

e BULSHEBATFTHIBMTE

ITE (Holdings) Limited

e Official launch of Computer Registration Management
System of the Construction Worker Registration Authority,
HKSAR

e Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

e Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

e |TE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first
Automated Passenger Clearance System (“APCS”) of the
Public Security Forces Services Bureau, Macao SAR at the
Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon
2006

e |TE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by
The Hong Kong Council of Social Welfare for four years and
two years respectively

e Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005" Macao

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was
successfully granted by State Intellectual Property Office of
the People’s Republic of China

s BEXT AZMEERNEMEMERRRERNRARE

s EBBABRBRBE  HETSEFRRRETEREH

o B AEERD O

o HPISHIITREBREZMEEHERN [ BBERAS | REFZE
BB ILBER M BIR B EXNER

o BEREMETRUTHEBFHR2006

s BEEBEIFREREEFEN [BRRBIE SR

o BERINTARIRM [EARHLE2005] RE

s BERDEMFEARANBERABERR [BLADHERE
FEER L | EF



Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery and Equipment
Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless Smartcard Transaction Controller
featuring Bluetooth technology”

Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS")

Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology Commission of HK to
RF Tech Ltd.

Forming Strategic Partnership with Macao Pass Card

New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.’s Software Product Series (“intelli"”)
Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States Patent and Trademark
Office to RF Tech Ltd.

[ FE AT BRI SRR R ZEHIRE | KBS LF R B IR — HIBERRE
BHE

EX#EHRMRE B REEERSZ ([APMS)) WIER RS

RF Tech Ltd. F{ZHERE BRAIF R BNAF RBEMEES

22 [RPYE | SRR S 1ERE

lintelli ] ZEM A ABRF Tech Ltd B E R R FIHBIERZH

RF Tech Ltd. F W EVE B SRR R I ZEIR 5 EF

Become the regional channel partner of the world leading smartcard and digital
security company, Gemalto SA

Completion of the first Innovation and Technology Commission funded research and
development project, Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger Monitor, together
with a PCT patent filed

Delivery of the first multi-applications smartcard system built on MacaoPass Card for
a luxury real estate complex in Macao

Completion of a sophisticated equipment asset management system for the Macao
Prison using RFID technologies

Completion of the first smartcard driven passage management and access control
system for the Lingnan University

Collaboration with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University through the first technology
transfer and licensing arrangement for a digital security product

BB R BB T RER L BB IGemalto SABEE S EB A HE
HIEESAFREBESEYNER — [RAXERR B ARERERE
B |- BRI B BER SR R BRI SR
RUBERNEEENRM RS RS IRERRGNREREER

PRI AP B ER 3 R IR A A SRR B RNV E B R 4
REMAZRMEETEFRERMERS

HEBETAEHESE  BBRRNTEBRRABZRER

Corporate Review
yNGIIEI=S

Delivery of the first campus smartcard system based on Macau
Pass Card for Macao Pui Ching Middle School

Partnering with Canon Hong Kong for the development of Macau
Pass Card driven e-payment solution for their photocopiers
System migration from contact to contactless smartcards for The
Chinese University of Hong Kong

Award of hospital-wide access control system contracts for Queen
Elizabeth Hospital, Grantham Hospital, The Duchess of Kent
Children’s Hospital and Tung Wah Hospital

Award of contract for the provision of computer personnel services
for the Hong Kong Hospital Authority

Completion of Exhibition in “CARTES in Asia”

R ARPUZEPERBERINENRMIEFIRESEFRS
EECanonfXREE B R RA R AR - AZhBIZEE R [RPY
Bl FERARETHNZ IR RITIRE TS ENTERS
RAEBPNAREBEE R HEAEEER T EEER
ENMZHERNERFREAN  BEFFALER - B2t
IR~ KOBIREABRA R BB R REBRT
BSREREREERRMUEMSVESRBNEN

MINTER [T E R R S 18RI H T TR |

Collaboration with Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D
Centre (“APAS") for development of Electric Vehicle Fast Charging
Station with Professional E-payment System, and completion of
exhibitions in various regions

Expand collaboration with Canon Hong Kong for development

of Octopus Card driven e-payment solutions for their document
management systems

Delivery of the first multi-applications payment solution based on
MacauPass Card for the Macao Institute for Tourism Studies

e Development of the first active-RFID based track and trace

application for Macao law enforcement government department
Launch of the World’s 1st Dual Frequency RFID guard tour reader
with Bluetooth connectivity
ESHEENMMARBRPOEE  HREAEEETRERLS
EFEREZTEL  UEZERENRESRES
EECanonfEREEBEIRAREREE - MIIBBER [/ EE |+
FERRETHZ IR RITIRE FNERS
PRINARPIAREEER B 8 R S EEER DRPIE | S8R

BRETFNERS
RRPIREBATRIPIRA 8 BRE RN B RER R BT B K8

PSR ERASHERRI FIRKERR - WERE T SIS B IR
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Corporate Review
NGIIEN =

¢ Extended coverage of intellAC intelligent security systems to the eighth public hospital
in Hong Kong

Complete delivery of an advanced hybrid RFID enabled library automated system for
an academic institute in Macao

Complete delivery of an automatic fare collection system for a public swimming pool
of the Hong Kong SAR Government

Award of contract for the design and supply of book sorter system for a public library
of the Hong Kong SAR Government

Launch of 20Kw DC fast charging station for electric vehicle charging application
Trail testing of electric vehicle fast charging stations at Government Department and
automobile service centre

Invention patent granted for ‘Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger
Monitor’ by the State Intellectual Property Office
REEERZARESBAVERECERE B

B FNRPIRERRTTE R XA — HERGSEHR R B 7R AR iTH B BB S EE
TERZNEBEAE T2 ARFKEN BB R RS

ER—EARBENE FAREERRHURZEERAHIERENEH
[20FREBHHEZRRETEI | RERRATSEA

EEBBNT M REEEBERE P R TRET BIE B HT

SR E TRARGERRERRAREREREE | BPEARANBERAR=E
R TER

ITE (Holdings) Limited

e Launch an Octopus Card payment solution for two fast charging
stations of electric vehicle in Hong Kong Island

e Complete delivery of the second automatic fare collection system
for a public swimming pool of the Hong Kong SAR Government

e Expand the hospital smartcard platform to intelligent emergency
call system and lift control system

e Awarded a contract for the design and supply Computerised
Vehicle Inspection System for the Transport Department of Hong
Kong SAR Government

e Accredited the Certificate of Merit in 2012 Hong Kong Awards
for Industries with HOMAC® RD-200AB ISO 15693 Handheld
Antenna Reader

o Accredited two “Certificate of Merits in Hong Kong RFID Awards
2012" with HOMAC® RD-200AB ISO 15693 Handheld Antenna
Reader and Embedded Computer Vision and RFID Enabled Book
Enrolment Mechanism

e Invention patent granted for “Device for registering and managing
book based on computer vision and radio frequency identification
technique” by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s
Republic of China

s ZARANERREBASEHEERMETEL | NESRE

HEA

TRRZAE B EBERE T ARPKEN BB R R

ERBRERFEEARERSRYAGRARKERERS

ER—EARBINE T ERENEMLBRRIRS

[EAGHERBIHMT R F 15 BERS | B1520128 B T 2R R

BT ARTERRE

[ERGHER BT F 5 BERS | K [ SRR E AR RRE |

WIS E20128BREGIERPI A RERERS

SR [EREREE RSB RN SRR LEEEE |
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e Complete Type Approval of the new Access Control System and Vehicle
Parking Management System for Octopus Cards

e Complete Type Approval of the new Vehicle Parking Management System for
MacauPass Cards

e Complete delivery of the full-scale territory-wide property client management
system for MTRC in Hong Kong

e Expand the hospital smartcard platform for the control and management of
new buildings and wards

e Awarded a new contract for the design, development, supply and delivery
of hardware, software and related professional services for the electronic
payment system of electric vehicle fast charging station of a local utility
company

e Launch of “Pay-by-Smartphone” software product to the intelli® software
family in supporting of e-payment applications

e Accredited the “Certificate of Merit in Hong Kong RFID Awards 2013" for
HOMAC® ML-100GTB Advanced Guard Tour Reader

CEWM[NEBFFARAR | MEEARENE  FAIRBXEH R/ EBFH
FIEEHRGREEERRR

CEH NEPIBERMARAR | BEREIH  RABBRMBEFATENEES
BERSR

e UIRAT [ B RBEEERDF | PESENEARMFERN RS ERRS

s AEBMNUBRERHBEEERZRAS

o RAH — D AEIERE - R RURRINERGRE TS EHBEEERBEN
BEEREL

 HHHEFHEEATR - 2HMinteliPBS “Pay-by-Smartphone” B F i H

o BT [ ERGHER B BT F 15K EBIEERFHOMAC ML-100GBT | » &[5
[2013F B BRI ERBI KRRERES |
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Chairman’s Statement

Y+ RFER A
- F%_ Ea) R
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (“the Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “Group") for the
year ended 31 March 2014 (the “Year"”).

Mission

The mission of the Group is to become the leading provider of smartcard,
radio frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution
and professional services in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region
("Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With profound
expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability, proven
track record and excellent reputation, the Group has established a leading
profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive approach to introduce
innovative and customized smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications
to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience and
intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products and
multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.

Appreciation
I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2014

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B,

Management of the Group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

During the Year, our solution and professional services arm, ITE Smartcard
Solutions Limited (“ITES"), has added the Hong Kong Productivity Council,
Mass Transit Railway Corporation Limited and Octopus Cards Limited to
our client lists. We received orders and completed the delivery of hardware
and application software development services for these new clients. We
were also awarded with a number of new contracts by clients served
by the Group for years. The orders covered the supply of hardware and
software and the provision of professional services to expand or enhance
their smartcard application platforms.

For the fifth consecutive year, ITES provided the production and
personalization services of the student smartcards for various institutes of
the Hong Kong Vocational Training Council. More than 10,000 pieces of
student smartcards were produced and delivered.

The certification process of our Electric Vehicle (“EV") Fast Charging
Station EFS-10, which was jointly developed with the Hong Kong
Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D Centre, has continued
and is expected to be completed in mid 2014. We are also pleased
to announce that a new R&D project, “Development of Mobilized
EV Charging Service Vehicle and Combo Fast Charging Station”, was
approved under the Innovation and Technology Support Program of the

Hong Kong Government.

The primary objective of the project is to develop an integrated EV fast
charging solution compliant to the Combo Charging Standard. Combo
Charging Standard is the new unified EV standard for North American
and European EV automakers. The key technology will focus on the DC
fast and AC semi-fast charging power control algorithms. The R&D team
will implement the Power Line Communication (PLC) protocols between
off-board conductive charger and battery management system. This is
able to cope for supporting European and US EVs in Hong Kong, and also
to catch the new potential market demand of Combo charging station
product exports to overseas. Another objective of the project is to develop
a mobilized EV charging service vehicle which aims to serve emergency
charging assistance, roadside EV fleet charging and “power hub” for

NN i

AEEMERARBEZEEND  SEETOHANRTRK
HR - BERAREZRSHER -

EH o

HA - AEERUARREXERENZENEF AR
BERGARAR ([BEREK])  RPFRMIEBEENR
ER [BBEABARAR RINEBREARAA] &
AR ERZIAS I 5 AR B Ko /8 81 A 3
R - ARERRBEREFZEFALN - HE BREMRE
- BEAEARBCABEERRER T 6 REHENE
MR -

(B R RG] EEAFERAREIERE T BRIRNAE
MMEE B4 BRI A4) + B1B10,0003F K B4 FE R
R o

BB RETHMHMAEPL] GIEHEN [SEESBHER
\TﬁéﬁﬁEFS—mJ (Electric Vehicle Fast Charging Station
EFS-10)8 338 TIFEE A ZEIER - HHRN T —NFF
FERK o BALERF - S —IAMMAEIEE [CombolZEEFHE
RRFBIRBEBHFTRE | DEBAFEHIEE THRIE R
B EEM R -

HEMNEZERRREMH —EEAMRComboit BIZAEMNEE
BRBRRTEMNFEIRT R - Combot BAZAE R MILE
MEMNESTERERREY — A ES—NEHER
BIRME - EEZENBERINRERR A HBRR LR
FREEGEEE  c MEEKEERBE AR ERAEMNER L
BUBNEBENSE ARERIISRBUHESHEERR
FrEOBEE - EE-BEBARRE-—HTEDEEEHH
MEILEBHENHREB R B—HEGERET — A2
#ComboF EEmMMBEEEEIINNELEMIS - HAES — B R
ERE-ERHNEHAEAERY  EERFEZEHY
ZEnE BEREAE ULKBAEWNEIER - B
RiBLE - BRELERHRERG - EEFNREOHELE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERBHRES 1T

commercial vehicles. The project outcome will complete ITE's EV charging
technology profile in supporting all worldwide EV standards, it will also
facilitate Hong Kong with a comprehensive infrastructure supporting all
assorted EV standards and automakers.

During the Year, our R&D arm, RF Tech Limited (“RFT”), has added a
new software product to the intelli software family. The new intelliPBS
"Pay-by-Smartphone” software product shall meet the fast growing
needs and requirements for electronic payment applications, targeting
those related to remote and wireless. Leveraging on the advance
in information and communication technologies (“ICT"), both the
smartphone products and ICT infrastructure have sophisticated functions
and features that can be used for the remote and wireless control and
monitoring through internet or telecommunication network. With the
Near-Field-Communication (“NFC") feature, a smart phone can become
a contactless smartcard for instant e-purse payment, or it can act as a
contactless smartcard reader to debit e-purse card like Octopus Card or
MacauPass Card. The settlement record can be downloaded to both the
backend system and the front end “Point-of-Sales” device like a parking
meter or a self-service kiosk. The potential of “Pay-by-Smartphone”
applications are tremendous, ITE will continue to explore and develop the
related business opportunities.

Colleagues and friends of ITE continued to support social caring activities.
We participated in the Suicide Prevention Services (“SPS”) Charity Walk
2014 and achieved our fund-raising target. All donations will be used
in SPS services for serving people of all ages in Hong Kong who are
suicidal, in despair or emotionally distressed by befriending them, and
offering services to help them to regain control of their emotions and
find the will to carry on. We also welcome five new interns joining the
Group. They come from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and The
Chinese University of Hong Kong with different Engineering disciplines
ranging from Computing, Electronic, Information, Mechanical and
System Engineering. ITE has been supporting Internship Program for
University Undergraduates since 2006. We assist the students to gain
solid experience and knowledge in their fields through actual work
responsibilities.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

BAHFEREHERFPEN DRE] NER - EMRIER
BHENEL - MERHAER - SEFNBRBITHET R
B ERE - MZAMEREHRAEEEEAEEER
ERREREAET ETRELHAERRERTEX
B7T1E - ZIAE MREKR DK T EITEN BB BT EHIMN
MRE > AJAXERZERNEDERERE - [ - ZREDH
MERN BB EERES G IENERRE - AH
EHFREENFRIARBEERIRENERTE -

FR- RAEEMBH R E®SF 2R FRF Tech Limited
(IRFT) - MASHEMEMEIFE M T - AintellifX
TEIEMT — @3 AIEE o 2% MintelliPBS “Pay-by-
Smartphone” MHERMAETSHEFNEEANERT
ko BRIHEERENESNENARTEE - BEEEEMN
BERMNCTEE S - B FHE MMICTER RiEE
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Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the Group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency; three words which best explain the name of ITE.

All members of the Company performed professionally under the
corporate vision, mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual
assets are created and accumulated and the range of professional services
continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the changing
market. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure rider to

provide multi-applications solutions to our clients.

With improving efficiency and effectiveness, new product development
and professional services enhancement, the Directors are optimistic that
our profitability will continue to improve throughout the year.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$23 million, representing a decrease of 19% over
last year. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2014 was approximately HK$2.1 million as
compared to that of approximately HK$1.1 million for last year.

Segmental Information

During the year, the Group recorded a decrease in turnover for about
19% when compared with last year. However, the Group’s gross profit
margin improved from 36% in last year to 43% in current year.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of the
smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT”) services and
related sales, was HK$9,013,702 (2013: HK$12,538,782) which decreased
by 28%. However, the income from maintenance services increased by
14% to HK$10,696,765 (2013: HK$9,375,500).

For consultancy service segment, the turnover decreased by 51% to
HK$3,191,743 (2013: HK$6,450,295). The significant drop in this segment
was mainly due to a consultancy contract ended in last year end. In spite
of drop in turnover, the profit margin improved from 9% to 12%.
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With our continual tighter cost control during the severe financial
situation, the Group’s administrative expenses dropped by 11%.

With our continual working capital improvement, the finance costs was nil
(2013: HK$31,711) for the year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Treasury Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and available bank facilities. As at 31 March 2014, the Group
did not have any outstanding borrowings. As at 31 March 2014, the
current ratio of the Group was 3.47 (2013: 2.56) while the liquidity ratio
was 3.23 (2013: 2.37).

The Group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the Group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also
reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the Group, it is believed that the
Group should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.

Significant Investments
The Group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the Group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The Group recognises that its staff is one of the Group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the Group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the Group’s business performance.
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The Group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced
any disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to
the remuneration as mentioned above, the Group also provides fringe
benefits which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC
and Hong Kong including contributions to the Social Security Scheme
in the PRC and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong.
Besides, the Group also provides on-going training programmes for its
employees to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new
technologies.

As at 31 March 2014, the Group had 62 (2013: 71) full-time employees,
of which 57 are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in the PRC and
Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was approximately
HK$14 million (2013: HK$17 million) for the year ended 31 March 2014.
During the year, the Company has not granted any share option to any of
its Directors and employees.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 March 2014, time deposits of HK$2,018,503 (2013:
HK$2,212,053) was pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
of the Group. However, taking into consideration of non-deployment of
any banking facilities in the past year and the existing stringent cash flow
management, the Group decided not to extend the banking facilities
offered. Therefore, the charge on the time deposits was subsequently
released on 1 April 2014.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The Group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2014.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2014, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was nil (2013: nil).
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"),
("MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, USS$,
MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past few years. During the

Macau Patacas

year, the Group generally used the receipts from customers and bank
loans to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries
operate. The Group does not currently engage in hedging to manage
possible exchange rate risk as the Group considers the cost associated
with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,
management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange
rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2014, the Company has issued corporate guarantee to a
bank in respect of banking facilities granted to a wholly owned subsidiary.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The Board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
“Code")
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the

on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March
2014, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company who is responsible for managing the Board and
the Group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company since its incorporation. The Board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the Board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive Directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2014. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2014.

Board of Directors and Board Meeting

The Board which currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the Group. Details of
the Directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All Directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the Board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, have been serving the Board as independent
non-executive Directors for more than nine years and have consistently
demonstrated their willingness to exercise independent judgments
and provide objective challenges to management. They have actively
participated in board meetings and board committee meetings held
during the year and have shown themselves able to give constructive and
independent advice to the Board over significant issues. Therefore, the
Board considers that both of them remain independent, notwithstanding
the length of their tenure as independent non-executive Directors.
All independent non-executive Directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the Group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the Group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the Board considers
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.
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With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors and the nature of the Group’s
business, the Board considers that the Directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the Group.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors
will be arrange wherever necessary.

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, four board meetings were held
and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each
Director.

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 2/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 3/4

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.
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Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
Directors together with necessary board papers and related materials at
least four days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any
items on the agenda as they may think fit. The Company Secretary is
responsible for recording the matters considered and decisions reached by
the Board including any concerns or dissenting views raised by Directors.
Minutes of board meetings and the board committees meetings will be
sent to all Directors for their comments and records as soon as after the
board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
Company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the Board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.
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The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the Group’s operation.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (being
the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to
provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee
meets at least four times a year with management to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The principal
terms of reference includes, inter alia, its relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, review of the Company’s financial information and
oversight of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 3/4

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of
the remuneration committee include the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior management
of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Members
of the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam
Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of
the votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent
non-executive Directors. No Director will be involved in any discussion in

connection with his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and the directors’ fees
of the independent non-executive Directors and the following is an
attendance record of the meeting by each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 11
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 71
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent I7Al

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr.
Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting

of the Company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.
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The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of Directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for

directorship.

During the Year, one nomination committee meeting was held and the
following is an attendance record of the meeting by each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 71
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 171
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 71

During the meeting, members considered and resolved that all the existing
Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the Company. Further,
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. George
Roger Manho will retire from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of
the Company’s articles of association at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of external auditor of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 37
to 38 of this annual report.
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Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. In order to maintain
a sound and effective internal control for safeguarding the Company’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, the Board has adopted internal control
policy and procedures (the “Internal Control”) within the Company. The
Internal Control is designed to provide reasonable assurance against
misappropriate use of the Company’s assets and to manage the Group’s

operational system in an efficient manner.

The Internal Control mainly covers areas of finance, operations and
compliance. The Company shall conduct an annual review of the Internal
Control to assess its effectiveness and shall make recommendations to the
Board if any significant areas of concern are identified.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings to update her skills and knowledge during the Year.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the Group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$339,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$45,050.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
(2012 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are laid down in article 113 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
Director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The Directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The Company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the Group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the Company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 50, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the Group. With over
27 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the Group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisor to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 51, is an Executive Director and one
of the founders of the Group. Mr. Manho has 26 years of experience
in the control and automation industries, electrical and mechanical
projects and engineering management. He is a Chartered Engineer and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The Institute of Marine
Engineers and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine Technology and the
Institution of Fire Engineers. He holds a Master degree in Engineering
Studies in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a
Bachelor of Science (Engineering) degree with first class honours in Marine
Engineering from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 51, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the Group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 30 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 45, is an Executive Director of the Group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. He joined the Group in March 2000. Mr. Liu graduated from
The London School of Economics and Political Science of the University
of London with a Bachelor of Science degree, first class honours in
Management Sciences. He is an associate member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the
younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, cse, Bs, FHKIE, JP, aged 74, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong Kong
Executive Council from 1985 to 1992.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 48, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kam
holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Wolverhampton,
the United Kingdom, and a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kam is a fellow member of the HKICPA and
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA"), an associate
member of the ICAEW and a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute. Mr. Kam has over 24 years' experience in auditing, accounting
and tax matters, both in private and public companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, 0.B.E. (Hon), P, aged 70, holds a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired. He was appointed as the Company'’s
independent non-executive director on 1 October 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 46, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the Group. With 23 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining
the Group in September 2001.

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 40, is the Financial Controller and
associated director of the Group. Ms. Yeung is responsible for managing
the Group’s finance and accounting operations, performing statutory
and management reporting. Ms. Yeung has over 17 years in auditing,
accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of the
ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA and the HKICPA. She holds a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Baptist University.

EX e EREERE

EREEE

EEBLEE WHRE AEEREARHEESNBEE
E ARAREAZBEEMNEETIF  BAENEMRBR
TEHEBEE  FRARAEFAETEAG-T=F&%"
BXRZEARN  AARE BRRETARNER - £
FER_ZZ-—FNAMALEE  ZHEREE—HE
AR R A A RER T -

By at Mt AEEUBEERBEES 8&
EEAEEGERETER  ETEEREEERTIE-
BMARZE - G EB BN EA+ EFER - 15/
BB EREREARBIRNERETTEEHE (KB &
- DEREEBANSAEAMAEEERARG M

RERGAMAGEREE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2013-2014 F3&

27



28

Directors’ Report

d= S et
—]
E =5 315& =

The directors have pleasure in submitting herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2014.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “group”) during the financial year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s turnover and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:
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ITE (Holdings) Limited (A AR]]) )= B RFET
I EWBE AR ZEBFBEHN RS M BRERWMT17 -

ARAREMBAR (A [ AEE]) RAVRFENETE
EB R BB ORGSR A M IwRME 14

TERFRHER

RAFHRFERN  ARBETREPAGEXBLHEEM
EERBEFBEOT

Percentage of the group’s total

HREBAEEIL
Turnover Purchases
=] g
The largest customer RAEP 1% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hARBE BT 41% -
The largest supplier BAMHIER - 15%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR AAET - 38%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in

these major customers and suppliers.
Financial statements
The profit of the group for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the state

of the company’s and the group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 101.
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Reserves

Profit attributable to owners of the company of HK$2,070,026 (2013:
HK$1,061,660) has been transferred to reserves. Other movements in
reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

On 18 June 2014, the Directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK0.2 cents (2013: HK$Nil) per ordinary share of the company
in cash distributed from the share premium account of the company for
the year ended 31 March 2014 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 21 August
2014. As at 31 March 2014, the Company’s share premium account
was approximately HK$24,952,000. Subsequent to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and after the payment of the proposed final dividend, assuming there
are no other changes to the share premium account, the Company’s
share premium account is expected to be reduced to approximately
HK$23,092,000. No interim dividend was declared and paid during the
year. The recommendation of final dividend has not been incorporated in
the financial statements for the year but will be recorded in the following
year.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the Company subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The Articles of Association provide
that an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company is
required for any distribution out of the share premium account.

Closure of Register of Members

(i) Entitlement to Attend and Vote at the 2014 Annual General
Meeting

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 6 August
2014 to Friday, 8 August 2014, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for attendance of annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 46/F,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 5 August 2014.
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(i) Entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 19 August
2014 to Thursday, 21 August 2014, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 46/F,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18 August 2014.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$3,000 (2013: HK$3,000).

Fixed assets

Details of the movements in the fixed assets of the group are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such rights

under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Directors

The directors during the financial year were:

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s Articles of Association,
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. George
Roger Manho will retire from the board by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for

re-election.

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months notice in

writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with
the company on 1 January 2014 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2014 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

As at 31 March 2014, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Interests in issued shares of the company

EERTHRAZRERMD - HEROKRE
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RRB RS

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

FRO.01EBTEERRE
Percentage
of total

Personal Corporate Family Other issued shares
Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total HEBTRSG
EEMR BARER EER Rk HithiE s &5t BaL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,108,000 (L) 241,102,348 (L) - 247,210,348 (L) 26.59%
2EK S (Note 2) (Fff5E2)
Mr. George Roger Manho 63,142,254 (L) - - 63,142,254 (L) 6.79%
HEH LA
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 113,628,000 (L) - - 113,628,000 (L) 12.22%
BRI S
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) - - 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%

FlERIE L

ITE (Holdings) Limited



Notes:
1. The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the shares.
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm”),

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests
in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the company and the
Stock Exchange.

Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any
such rights.

Directors’ Report

=+ A+

EE
B2
1. [Ll FRRBMD BIFE -
2. I FERAD Th B — KR B R Z B B LA A AlRax-Comm

(BVI) Limited ([Rax-Comm ) Fi#sH - Z2IE XL LR A
Rax-Comm 76.39% /) E 31T/ 15

br FilFTIRRESN RZE—WF=A=+—H EF- 17
B4R Bl 1% B Y B B A R AR AR IR 8 B AR 1 2815.7 ]2 15.8
IR AR R s A REEE®E (B REBGROIE TR
HEERMDIEFOE=SAR (RIERIEEBREANZSH
ERBRAIRIEREOERSIOAR) - HBAETIAREE!

GAIE3I2ETFUFENELMA - SBRAIFR LM E Al
F5.46X5.68GFTH MR AN EAMERRF KRR FHANE

RS -

%%&ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ@
!

BROA bt TEE RITHRAENRD - HARO REFMESR
Rz RORR ] FTIRESN  WFEAR - AR R SE [ S
REAGES2EEALH EARARNEERTHARATEE
BAXRRREFMEMEABRNROXERES (BEE
%) MESHZ  MARAEZTRITRAHRBEFNERE
SRR+ B T 2B ) °] SR AR 1R )R8 o7 4
Mo TMEITE AL SR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2013-2014 F3&

33



34

Directors’ Report

ESERE

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

As at 31 March 2014, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:

ERBFROTRREZRBENER R KR

RIB-—MF=A=+—H  REEHEIFE3I36HTET
BENELMAE R ERNARBEERITHRAEMA -
THAL (RRBESHITHAEGRIN) RARR RS &
MERAR D h A R SRR

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

Name of shareholder S ER HEBITRMEHN
BREA BEE Aok
Rax-Comm (Note) 241,102,348 25.94%

Rax-Comm (Bff#E)

Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant

directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2014.

Share option schemes

Details of the company’s share option schemes are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year and up to the date of this report, the company purchased
1,048,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the company
at average price of HK$0.055 per share on the Stock Exchange in July
2013.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

Mz ZEROER[EFRITHREHNEN - HEKRO RES
MR AR | —HRBEREHERN DR -
BEXPEEN R-T-OF=A=1+—08  REEF

HigPI336fE TR THEIFNELMAHLARRREEHT
PR - ARRWBEREMAL (RRRESERHITH
RERRSN) FEARR AR MARRIAR O P B S MOAR

fERfERTE

RRABIRBAER BTN AR A B BRI E27 -

BE - HERBERAQFRS

REREWIRE B ARERKZ S HAFRFHE0.055
B ITEEA1,048,00008 KA B F AR EIE0.018 T iy il

P e



1,048,000 of repurchased shares were cancelled in March 2014. The
issued share capital of the company was reduced by the nominal value
of these shares. The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares was
charged to the share premium account of the company. The directors
considered that, as the company’s shares were trading at a discount to the
net asset value per share, the repurchases would increase the net asset
value per share of the company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the
above-mentioned period.

Directors’ interests in contracts

No contract of significance to which the company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the company had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 102 of the annual report.

Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Directors’ Report
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The company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the schemes are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

The company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 March 2014.

Confirmation of independence
The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule

5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive directors are independent.

Auditor

A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
as auditor of the company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The company has not changed its auditors in the past
five years.

By order of the board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2014

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BAKER TILLY
HONG KONG K it

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“group”) set out on pages 39 to 101, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014, and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

¥ N A% SR R

ZITE (Holdings) Limited & IR
B 2B AR S

(RASESEMARZNBERAF)

AAZEED (LA [FM ) BEEZINERE39E101 8/
ITE (Holdings) Limited ([E2A7A]) RENBAR (A TAH
RIEER]) NREVKRE  HEER T —NF=A4
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EEHBER GERREZPRREGEEHEERER AR
FESTERE RE MR o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B RS

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31
March 2014, and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 June 2014

Choi Kwong Yu

Practising certificate number P05071

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
A2 E

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—MF&=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

Note 2014 —Z=— & 2013 —Z—=4

FaE HKS$E T HK$ 7T
Turnover =2 4 22,902,210 28,364,577
Cost of services rendered ERHERIE AR (12,650,465) (17,874,639)
Cost of sales EEBMHIAR (301,702) (279,296)
Gross profit EF 9,950,043 10,210,642
Other gains Hep e 5 400,684 155,521
Administrative expenses TEHER (8,280,701) (9,272,792)
Profit from operations KRR 2,070,026 1,093,371
Finance costs RUE KA 6(a) - (31,711)
Profit before taxation RRBE A% F 6 2,070,026 1,061,660
Income tax 5 H: 7(a) = -
Profit attributable to owners of RATEE AFERAELEF 10
the company 2,070,026 1,061,660
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEEBEA (ZH) 11
(expense) for the year
Item that may be reclassified 2R EREN A
subsequently to profit or loss: IR .
— Exchange differences on translating ~ — /G4SN HRE =58 -
foreign operations, net of nil tax IR FE(E 3,765 (8,476)
Total comprehensive income FRE2EWAELE
for the year 2,073,791 1,053,184
Earnings per share sR2R 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARNEE (B) 0.22 0.11

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated P& EVF}FE AR L 4R A BMISRETA — 21D ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AN

At 31 March 2014 ( Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BTSSR

MEZ-—WE=/=+—H (NUETIIE)

Note 2014 —Z—F 2013 —F— =4
k=3 HKS$E T HK$& 7T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets BEE&E 15 291,201 374,664
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =8 18 1,186,024 1,227,609
Trade and other receivables FH&T?%&EMTH&UPE%’K 19 5,216,070 6,292,999
Financial assets at fair value through BiIERIRIE A T ERER 21
profit or loss inﬂéﬁ 1,006,320 751,260
Pledged bank deposits B BIRITIER 22 2,018,503 2,212,053
Cash and bank balances e RIRITEES 22 7,197,052 5,485,254
16,623,969 15,969,175
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables BN E 5 K E b R IR 23 4,422,657 5,578,439
Provisions B 24 338,878 631,852
Income tax payable FERTATISHL 25 24,054 19,711
4,785,589 6,230,002
Net current assets REEEFE 11,838,380 9,739,173
Net assets EEFRE 12,129,581 10,113,837
Capital and reserves ERR G 28
Share capital R& X 9,295,440 9,305,920
Reserves i 2,834,141 807,917
Total equity RS 12,129,581 10,113,837

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 June

2014.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Director

Cheng Kwok Hung
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Statement of Financial Position

BT ISR a%

At 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong doIIars REZZE—MF=A=1+—H (LABTINE)

Note 2014 —Z—F 2013 —F—=#
k=3 HKS$E T HK$ 7T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B ARKRE 17 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR ENGILE 17 2,736,500 -
Deposits and prepayments HEICR: -4 19 194,233 168,760
Cash and bank balances [ RIRITAE R 22 594,850 456,855
3,525,583 625,615
Current liabilities RBAE
Accrued charges and other payables fEET & B I H AL FE IR EX 23 337,000 345,062
Net current assets RBEEZE 3,188,583 280,553
Net assets EEFE 7,188,583 4,280,553
Capital and reserves ERRHE 28
Share capital R& X 9,295,440 9,305,920
Reserves i (2,106,857) (5,025,367)
Total equity R 7,188,583 4,280,553

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 June  EZEE&RN —Z 04X A+ /\ BAERRHETIE
2014.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung ZERX B ] 2
Director Director o ==

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated  Hff#IK &t AR I Z47 A MBS HRE M —2BH
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ey e L

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE _F—E=A="+—HILEE CABTIIE)

Attributable to owners of the company

42

VNG 2PN 3
Share Share Merger Exchange Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses equity
Note R RiDEE BfREE MEERRE E HER
izt HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$ETT
Balance at 1 April 2012 “T-—FMA-REH 9,305920 24,999,082  10,748910 285,819 (36,279,078) 9,060,653
Changes in equity FRNEREE |
for the year:
Profit for the year EREF - - - - 1,061,660 1,061,660
Exchange differences on BNEBRBREER
translating foreign
operations - - - (8,476) - (8,476)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ R (), WAL
income for the year - - - (8,476) 1,061,660 1,053,184
Balance at 31 March 2013 “T-Z®#Zf=1—H
and 1 April 2013 RZZ-=FNA—A%&H 9,305920 24,999,082  10,748910 277,343 (35,217,418) 10,113,837
Changes in equity for the year: FRKEREE :
Profit for the year ERGH - - - - 2,070,026 2,070,026
Exchange differences on BINEEMBEES
translating foreign operations - - - 3,765 - 3,765
Total comprehensive income for A2 WAL
the year - - - 3,765 2,070,026 2,073,791
Repurchase of shares EIEER 28(a)i) (10,480) (47,567) - = - (58,047)
Balance at 31 March 2014 “T-ME=A=1+—H4&H 9,295,440 24,951,515  10,748910 281,108  (33,147,392) 12,129,581
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated  Ff#s&VBf st AR I 4R A IS IRE A — 261D

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
1\\/T\/\EE N ;ﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE—Z—ME=A=+—HI-FE (LLETIIE)

Note 2014 —F—&E 2013 —T—=F
B = HKS$®E T HK$E T
Operating activities R
Profit before taxation ST A 2,070,026 1,061,660
Adjustments for: #NF S IEEL TR
— Gain on disposal of financial assets — HEBBEHIREATE
at fair value through profit or loss BENeREENT 5 (10,297) (21,010)
— Fair value gain on financial assets — BRBRRE AT EREN
at fair value through profit or loss EREENAFEKZE 5 (131,656) (11,431)
— Interest income — FBHA 5 (47,197) (10,230)
— Finance costs — BhVE AR 6(a) = 31,711
— Depreciation — e 6(c) 129,770 107,248
— Exchange differences —[EHER - (15,593)
— Provisions — B 6(c) 518,232 754,082
— Reversal of unused provisions — KRB AR EE 6(c) (811,206) (791,275)
— Write-off of inventories — FEMH 6(c) 42,096 71,718
Operating profit before changes in REEELBB A NSERF
working capital 1,759,768 1,176,880
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =FE (Em),/ md (511) 229,653
Decrease in trade and other receivables FEULE 5 B EL A JE W TRk 1,076,929 230,336
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other JERTE 5 N B A fE R 20
payables R,/ #hn (1,155,782) 1,949,221
Cash generated from operations E(RELRS 1,680,404 3,586,090
Interest paid EASALE = (31,711)
Tax refunded REIF 4,343 2,602
Net cash generated from operating REEBRELEREFE
activities 1,684,747 3,556,981
Investing activities REEE
Purchase of fixed assets BEETEE (46,307) (439,285)
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits BiE={EANEBRETRD
with terms over three months (3Zm) 629,300 (629,300)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets BBRERREATERENSRE
at fair value through profit or loss EEE (3Em), b (113,107) 49,561
Interest received BEIFHE 47,197 10,230
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZHELE /(A BEFE
investing activities 517,083 (1,008,794)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated  Hff#&IK st AR I S5 A MBS HRE M — 0%

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

e LMER

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

Note 2014 =T —MF 2013 =F—=%
L HKS$% T HK$7B 7T
Financing activities REEE
Repurchase of shares Bl 28(a)(ii) (58,047) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank BRI TERRERD
deposits, net (1&n) 193,550 (5,410)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BMETHEE (FfR) BEFE
financing activities 135,503 (5,410)
Net increase in cash and RERBESEEYFEEM
cash equivalents 2,337,333 2,542,777
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ANBE—HWREREEZEEY 4,855,954 2,305,979
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ SMNE[E RS F) K2/ & 3,765 7,198
Cash and cash equivalents at R=A=+—HHWRERES
31 March ZEY 22 7,197,052 4,855,954
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated P& EVF}FE AR L 4R A BMTSRETA — 21D ©



Notes to the Consolidated Finandal Statements
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—MF&=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

(a)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address
of the principal place of business of its operating subsidiaries is
Level 10, Park Building, 476 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2014 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (together
the “group”). The company is an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

(a)

—REF

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([ARAF]]) SRS
L) —RERRHR AR - HEfit B ACricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands * £ 2 E K}
BARMEELEME AT B NEFILEAHRE
ERERO0E - ARAKRODNREEHERH
BRAE ([RZSFT]) BIZERTS £ -

BE_Z-HNF=A=1+—RLFENGEUBER
REEARAREMBAR (BRARAREHA A
SH]) - ARA R —MEREZEKRAR - HEAR
MEREBHNGE M BRKRMEE 7

FEEIBE
EREH

ReMBRRDBEMERNE LW H RS LD
e LSRR RESRESMASRAENME
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

(b)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group and the company. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the group and the company for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
group is set out below.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the significant accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in note 33.
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(i)
(ii). The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company
on the basis of dividend received or receivable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(d)

(e)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2(i)(ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of fixed
assets, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms

and 4 years
— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other 4 years

equipment

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual

value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of fixed assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE=ZF—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(i)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting
period. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately. When the outcome of a service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an

expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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(9

(h)

0)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Service contracts (continued)

Service contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period
are recorded at the net amount of costs incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the statement of financial position as the “Gross
amount due from customers for service contract work” (as an
asset) or the “Gross amount due to customers for service contract
work” (as a liability), as when applicable. Progress billings not yet
paid by the customers are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under “Trade and other receivables”. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Trade and
other payables”.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of assets

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables that are stated at cost or amortised
cost are reviewed at the end of each reporting period for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

If any event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined

and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables carried at cost or at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

@)

(ii)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded
using an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:
- fixed assets;

- investments in subsidiaries; and

- goodwill.

f any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) EHZE—Z—mM&E=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FE&BR (#)

Income tax (continued) (G) FEH (&)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and BREFHBEEERBERROERIIIMERBET
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill AIEBBEPHRMNEE - T8 25T E R & A
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or (InBEBE G —2BH AIBRIN) VB ES B EH )
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided RHER - UERHBARNKRENEREZE (NE
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary ERBIER - QPR E B AT bASZE ] 1= 485 A BF S -
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent BRI TE R RN AAI LB ZE © /B
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the A TFHRAOEZER - AIRBRRAIEHREENER) -

timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible

differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the

future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on ERERANBELEHESREREZREERABIKRTEN
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying ?E,Hﬁﬁfﬁﬁiiﬁﬁﬁf R EBREERKERE
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or MR E - REFIREERABH RS -

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each RERIAEEMNIREE - BEHRSHE TR
reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer A7 ] BE B B S0 FE SR e A Bl 5 B R A A B 1R
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow AT AR - (E1RI 5 B R A 1E Al 82 B & S0 I8 AR Bt
the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is i A AT A R 4 ]

reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of TR B R E DR EBINTIS RIERBBAREMNE

dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related ERETERR R ©
dividends is recognised.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets

and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three

months of maturity at acquisition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(n)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in

profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(n)

(ii)

(o)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group or the company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the

present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position items,
are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be

recoverable.
Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.

2

(o)

(p)

FREHEEK (&)

HEBRE (&)

5N T 0 AR P A SN E R B E R R
BB MBMREIAR - QRS R IMEE

KMER/BIL - MELANELZREENEBEE
Yz K s FIVEB RAHIRE o

W 25 W 52

ot 2 AR T A AR+ DR B

St R (ER) B - RIETHI7%

PERREERD

MR s

BRs M as BB 2 LR R A - SHEMRL - EABHE R
AN

HHRARTE A 4 ©

BElEERRE S OO RIRIBTETAD LA
KEHERABLHBAES HNERANE D LE
R - BIRB A O TR SE bt AR - PITERE
Wzt AR N E AR o

R RIS A

R RIS M A TR (AR TS B AR o

ANNUAL REPORT 2013-2014 3§

59



60

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(p)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(a)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have
not been completed on or before the end of the reporting period
are shown in the statement of financial position as deferred

maintenance income.
Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other
sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the
share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.
Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the

leased asset.
Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the group;
(b) has significant influence over the group; or
(©) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the group or the group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t) Related parties (continued)

(ii) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(a)

(b)

(@}

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and revised or
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the group and the company. Of these, the
following developments are relevant to the consolidated financial

statements:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial

statements — Presentation of items of other comprehensive

income
. HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements
. HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities
. HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement
3 Amendments to HKFRS 7 — Disclosures — Offsetting

financial assets and financial liabilities
o Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 cycle
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

B BRE2E (&)

3  Changes in accounting policies (continued) 3

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to present separately
the items of other comprehensive income that would be
reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions
are met from those that would never be reclassified to profit
or loss. The presentation of other comprehensive income in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in these
consolidated financial statements has been modified accordingly.

HKFRS 10 replaces the requirements in HKAS 27, Consolidated
and separate financial statements relating to the preparation of
consolidated financial statements and HK-SIC 12 Consolidation
— Special purpose entities. It introduces a single control model
to determine whether an investee should be consolidated, by
focusing on whether the entity has power over the investee,
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and the ability to use its power to affect the amount
of those returns. The adoption does not change any of the control
conclusions reached by the group in respect of its involvement
with other entities as at 1 April 2013.

The adoption of other aforesaid revisions, amendments and new
HKFRSs has had no effect on the group’s consolidated financial
statements in current or prior accounting periods.

The group has not applied any new or revised HKFRS that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 34).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

4  Turnover 4 EEH
Turnover represents the net sales value of goods supplied to EEFEEHEMTEPHNHER RRERBHF
customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount of W - FABRAEXERENEESERENT ¢

each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during
the year is as follows:

2014 —Z—MF 2013 —&2—=4F

HK$#E T HK$/E7T
Provision of smartcard systems, RIEE LR RE - S8R &
RFID and IT services BB RS
— Service revenue — BRFsUEs 8,329,585 11,959,415
— Income from maintenance services — (RERRFUA 10,696,765 9,375,500
— Sales of service related products — HERBHBER 684,117 579,367
19,710,467 21,914,282
Consultancy income AR AR TS U A 3,191,743 6,450,295
22,902,210 28,364,577
5  Other gains 5 Hfttlhz=
2014 == —MF 2013 Z=— =%
HK$#E T HK$/E7T
Interest income FLEWA 47,197 10,230
Exchange gain, net B 3, W e F B = 22,266
Dividend income from listed securities ETEAFRBMA 13,959 14,109
Gain on disposal of financial assets HE B BIERIRR A T EEER
at fair value through profit or loss SREEE WS 10,297 21,010
Fair value gain on financial assets FIRERIRIZ A ERERN
at fair value through profit or loss TREENNTERE 131,656 11,431
Government sponsorship income BT E B A 128,835 59,935
Sundry income HABUA 68,740 16,540
400,684 155,521
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

Profit before taxation 6 BRBANEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB ATDREFI SRR (GEA) ¢
2014 —Z— & 2013 =F—=F
HKSB T HK$ 7T
@) Finance costs: (a) BIERA
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITBEERELFE = 31,711
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRA
(including directors’ remuneration) *: (BREEEMe) Y
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEKRHMET 13,460,156 16,224,798
Retirement scheme contributions (note 26) RIRETEIER (HiFE26) 538,123 641,035
13,998,279 16,865,833
(© Other items: (©) HMIER :
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETEN S 339,000 330,000
Cost of inventories #* =X N 2,833,517 3,205,347
Depreciation e 129,770 107,248
Development costs T2 A 425,764 385,164
Exchange loss, net B 5B 1E3E 8,693 =
Provisions (note 24) Bt (MzE24) 518,232 754,082
Operating lease charges: CEREYH
minimum lease payments RIEHERE
— hire of properties — WEAME 1,249,864 1,597,622
— hire of office equipment — RARBAE 45,725 45,702
Reversal of unused provisions (note 24) RE)AREER (H5E24) (811,206) (791,275)
Write-off of inventories FEis 42,096 71,718
# Staff costs included HK$402,309 (2013: HK$320,260) relating to # 8 T K AN 8 #5402,309%8 T (Z T — = F:
development costs, which amount is also disclosed separately in note 320,260 70) TR A « bh FH KA E 72 M
6(c). FE6(Q) B TR o
" Cost of inventories included HK$42,096 (2013: HK$71,718) relating to # FERABIEA2,096ET (ZF—=4:71,718

write-off of inventories, which amount is also disclosed separately in
note 6(c).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of

the group are domiciled and operated.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
group did not have any assessable profits for taxation purposes in
Hong Kong during the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$Nil).

No provision for income tax in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"”) and Macao have been made as the group did not have
any assessable profits for taxation purpose in the PRC or Macao
during the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$Nil).

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rate:

(a)

(b)

REZHEWHERNFEHR

AEERERTUEN R - DRBEL ST HIRT

fEEPIETE -

AEBRFAIL EBEMSHAAIFEEN - B
ECE-NFE=RA=+—HIEFELEEEMER
BE(ZZ—=F:8)-

ARERERLBFEARLNE ((HE]) RR
PIFTRT Rl MBS —F—ME=A=+—8
14 S o B RORPI R B (— B — =4 -
) °

BRREXHREHEANNEARENRE
AT

2014 —2—-{F 2013 =5—=%
HKS$#E T HK$ETT

Profit before taxation Gyl 2,070,026 1,061,660
Notional tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% 1B 16.5% B A H R RZEHIE 341,554 175,174
Tax effect of different tax rates on subsidiaries WA mA & 5 B = A R

operating in other jurisdictions (Note) M2 () (88,730) (109,647)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR ERNTIB T2 1,225 3413
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAERRBMANT G2 (9,389) (8,495)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised BREFHESBENTBTE (467,692) (218,730)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised — RIERH LR E BRI KT 2 (1,835) (73,478)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised AEARAB AT EERNT BT E 224,867 231,763

B

Actual tax expense

Note:

The applicable tax rate of the company and those subsidiaries that are
incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5% (2013: 16.5%). The applicable tax rates of
the subsidiaries of the company incorporated outside Hong Kong are as follows:
i. ITE (China) Limited is subjected to tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%).

ii ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada is subject to a progressive tax rate from
3% t0 12% (2013: 3% to 12%).

GEE
AR E R AR 40 BB 2 03 A B R16.5%
ST 16.5%)  MEEESEMOKELANE
ABEMT -

i EBMKERRGER AR ER25% (=
T4 :25%)°

ii BREHCRA) ARR AR ER R ABI%E
12% (ZF—=%F : 3% &E12%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

EEMWE

8 Directors’ remuneration 8

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BIEBIZR EMARA REARRIGOIE 1611555

68

Rules and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is MNESMSFBOT :
as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions 2014 Total
A= 41 —E-mF
0 REMRIZE B EISR &t
HKS$E T HKS$E 7T HKS$E 7T HK$3# 7T
Executive directors HITE=S
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent EED vt 230,000 899,820 15,000 1,144,820
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung EDE M S A 230,000 394,531 15,000 639,531
Mr. George Roger Manho BEMELE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah AEeExRE 50,000 - - 50,000
560,000 1,294,351 30,000 1,884,351
Independent non-executive directors BYEHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZEREL 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony MEMEE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew mRERE 50,000 - - 50,000
220,000 - - 220,000
Total A&t 780,000 1,294,351 30,000 2,104,351

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8 EEME (&)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors'’ and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions 2013 Total
e 2R —T—=F
£k REVH = RINGTEIRR A&t
HK$A T HK$& 7T HK$/& 7T HK$ 7T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2ENEE 230,000 623,394 14,500 867,894
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung el 230,000 394,180 14,500 638,680
Mr. George Roger Manho BEHELEE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2L E 50,000 - - 50,000
560,000 1,017,574 29,000 1,606,574
Independent non-executive directors B IEHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen i+ 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BMEZMEE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry (Note a) BBEE (fizka) 17,800 - - 17,800
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew (Note b) &7 # 44 (Mistb) 25,000 = - 25,000
212,800 - - 212,800
Total aEr 772,800 1,017,574 29,000 1,819,374
Notes: Bg3E :

(a)

(b)

Resigned on 8 August 2012

Newly appointed on 1 October 2012

(a)

(b)

RZZE——F/\A/N\BEME

RZTE——F+A-BEZE

ANNUAL REPORT 2013-2014 3§

69



70

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2013:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2013:

three) individuals are as follows:

REHAL
REMBBHFALS WA (ZF—=4: @)

REF  RENHSDHNMES A= (=%
—=% =fI) e HFATOMSLENT

2014 —Z—MF 2013 —&2—=4F

HKS$E T HK$& 7T
Salaries and other emoluments e MEMBE 1,624,257 1,519,474
Retirement scheme contributions RRETEIHE R 45,000 43,500
1,669,257 1,562,974

The emoluments of the three (2013: three) individuals with the

highest emoluments are within the following band:

R (ZE—Z=ZF: =) BEeFALTHHEN T
THIHE :

2014 —ZE— 4 2013 —Z— =4

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ATEE AT EH
HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 87T — 1,000,000 7T B 3
10 Profit attributable to owners of the 10 ZAATEEAERELZEF

company
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the company

includes a profit of HK$2,966,077 (2013: HK$498,866) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the company.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

ARRRIBEAEANEBGEGAENEE S A5H
2,966,077 T B & ) (= & — = 4 : 498,866/
TL)  ZERECRA A R MM ISHRE NEE o
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

11 Other comprehensive (income)/expense 11

Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive

(income)/expense:

2014 =2 —UF
Before tax Tax
amount expense

BREiAIEE - HEXD
HK$7E T HK$7E T

Hfp2E (RA), X H

FEAME2E (RA),/ IHORBZ BT

2013 —E—=%
Net-of-tax Before tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount amount expense amount

BREigLE KEEE HEIE  BIHgREE
HKS$E T HK$7& 7T HK$B T HK$ 7T

Exchange differences on TBINETEEY

translating foreign HEEE

operations (3,765) = (3,765) 8,476 = 8,476

12 Dividends 12 HM2EXZHRE
2014 = —MUF 2013 Z=—=%
HK$#E T HK$#E T

Proposed final dividend EEAHRR S

— HKO.2 cents — BikERER0.27E 1l

(2013: HK$Nil) per ordinary share (ZE—=%F: &) 1,859,088 -

The above proposed final dividend for the year amounting to
HK$1,859,088, is recommended by the directors on 18 June
2014, which is to be paid out of the share premium account of
the company. Such dividend is subject to the approval by the
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. These
financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

R-T—WEXA+NR  EESHA LEERY
B 24 11,859,088/ 7T + bk F R BRI D= B
BERXN - REERRPREAFHEARRDAGRIT
WRRRBEF A SERIE - LEVERETERBE
BRAMBRE XS o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

13 Earnings per share 13

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to owners of the company of HK$2,070,026 (2013:
HK$1,061,660) and the weighted average of 930,560,416 (2013:
930,592,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated

BRER

BREXBANDEAQNBHESE A EME SR
2,070,026 7t (=& — =4 : 1,061,6607 /L) &
FRNBETEBAR KT % 2930,560,4160%
—Z— =4 :930,592,0000%) * ;FEWT :

as follows:
2014 = —MF 2013 = T—=%
HK$#E T HK$B 7T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April RUA—BHEETEER 930,592,000 930,592,000
Effect of repurchase of shares EEEAR D IR (FiTEE28(a) (i)
(note 28 (a)(ii) (31,584) =
Weighted average number of ordinary R=ZA=1T—HZEER
shares at 31 March IS 930,560,416 930,592,000

As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary
shares during the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: Nil), basic
and diluted earnings per share are the same.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

HE_ZT-NF=A=1+—BILFEILEELE
TER (Z2—=F: 8) ®REAREIRNIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Segment reporting 14 2IHE
The group’s operating and reportable segments are (i) smartcard REENKERERD DM AOEERRES - 5
systems, RFID and IT services; and (ii) consultancy services. SE B & B B ARG LA R (i ER R AR TS - B R iE Lk
Information regarding these segments is reported below. DEERZ2|AT -
Smartcard systems,
RFID and IT services Consultancy services Consolidated
BRRAR  WIERA
RERDHIRH RS ga
2014 Z2-ME 2013 -F—=F 2014=-F-[EF 2013 -FT-=F 2014-F-0OF 2013 -F—=F
HKS& T HKS AT HKS# T HK$ 7T HKS# T HK$ BT
TURNOVER EXE
Revenue from external customers — $5NEPIE 19,710,467 21,914,282 3,191,743 6,450,295 22,902,210 28,364,577
RESULTS &
Segment profit DEbg M 3,821,988 3,336,042 262,942 192,007 4,084,930 3,528,049
Unallocated corporate revenue AT HREENE 400,684 155,521
Unallocated corporate expenses AFOERELESH (2,415,588) (2,590,199)
Profit from operations T 2,070,026 1,093,371
Finance costs REMNA - (31,711)
Profit before taxation BREANER 2,070,026 1,061,660
Income tax it - _
Profit for the year FREF 2,070,026 1,061,660
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PHEE 6,017,966 6,999,835 481,097 726,677 6,499,063 7,726,512
Unallocated assets AFHREE 10,416,107 8,617,327
Total assets HEE 16,915,170 16,343,839
LIABILITIES aff
Segment liabilities PHERE 4,200,991 5,193,015 247,598 672,215 4,448,589 5,865,230
Unallocated liabilities AFHEEE 337,000 364,772
Total liabilites ek 4,785,589 6,230,002
OTHER INFORMATION HfhER
Capital expenditure BARX 46,307 439,170 - 115 46,307 439,285
Depreciation & 129,586 106,605 184 643 129,770 107,248
Provisions B 498,011 692,629 20,221 61,453 518,232 754,082
Reversal of unused provisions RENFR B (782,523) (685,412) (28,683) (105,863) (811,206) (791,275)
Write-off of inventories FEHH 42,096 71,718 - - 42,096 71,718
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ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE—

—ME=ZA=+—HLFE CUETINE)

14 Segment reporting (continued) 14 ZoEHRE (&)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and RTEESB2ENRRERERN S
allocating resources between segments:
- Segment profit represented profit earned by each segment = P28 5 BiE AR E 5 R AEAIF R1T
without allocation of certain central administration costs, B - B - BERKA - BN ZFEL
other income, finance costs, exchange differences and RFEHZE T 255 @5 36 AT HRE S
income tax expense. A e
= All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than = BRIERT AR RITBUKZA « BEIRRITERAR
prepaid central administration costs, pledged bank deposits ReRBeEEWIN MBEEHHE TS
and cash and bank balances. 2558 -
= All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other = BRIERT AR RITBUK A RER BB - i
than accrued central administration costs and income tax BEASPRETE259E0 -
payable.
(@) Geographical information (a) imER
The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong, REBEEEDRS  BPIUARPBILEET -
Macao and the PRC.
The group’s revenue from external customers and information REBEREIINEF Mz RIEREE E R 5 F 0
about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed TS 8
below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HIEF s FRBEE
2014 —ZE— & 2013 — & —=%F 2014 —=— & 2013 —_F—=4F
HK$#% T HK$E7T HK$E 7T HK$# T
Hong Kong &5 19,477,872 25,375,462 287,653 372,725
Macao BT 3,424,338 2,989,115 742 1,275
PRC A = = 2,806 664
22,902,210 28,364,577 291,201 374,664
(b) Information about major customers (b) EHXEEFER
For the year ended 31 March 2014, there was two (2013: two) HE_Z-—NF=A=+—BLEE M (==
customer who accounted for over 10% of total revenue of the —=%F : W) B RREL - HIEHBA R EMEH
group with revenue of HK$5,139,391 (2013: HK$7,881,109) R (ZZT—=4% : BERFEL - FHHEHREM

related to the smartcard systems, RFID and IT services segment
(2013: smartcard systems, RFID and IT services segment and
consultancy services segment).

ITE (Holdings) Limited

BHE RS KBRS ) 2 BEF WS EAEER LR
WmBiE10%  ZEFERF AWK AS5,139,391
BT (ZE—=4% :7,881,109/87T) °
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

15 Fixed assets 15 BEEE
The group rEE
Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements  and fixtures equipment Total
HEMERE GRREE ERRHEMRE &t
HK$#TT HK$AE T HK$A&TT HK$ETT

Cost: B
At 1 April 2012 —E——FNA—H 539,133 394,819 2,452,389 3,386,341
Additions NE 416,800 - 22,485 439,285
Disposals HE (539,133) (23,189) (1,297,196) (1,859,518)
Exchange adjustments b 5 A - 252 1,044 1,296
At 31 March 2013 and RZZB—=F=A=+—H

1 April 2013 N—_Z—=F1HF—H 416,800 371,882 1,178,722 1,967,404
Additions NE - - 46,307 46,307
Disposals & = (35,791) (389,118) (424,909)
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE—NFE=A=+—H 416,800 336,091 835,911 1,588,802
Accumulated depreciation: REHIE
At 1 April 2012 —E——FNA—H 539,133 392,866 2,411,634 3,343,633
Charge for the year FNITE 79,812 1,450 25,986 107,248
Eliminated on disposals HER T (539,133) (23,189) (1,297,196) (1,859,518)
Exchange adjustments BE 1 A2 - 249 1,128 1,377
At 31 March 2013 and RZB—=F=A=+—H

1 April 2013 M=—Z—=F1F—H 79,812 371,376 1,141,552 1,592,740
Charge for the year FAME 106,416 506 22,848 129,770
Eliminated on disposals R TR - (35,791) (389,118) (424,909)
At 31 March 2014 R-Z—NE=A=+—H 186,228 336,091 775,282 1,297,601
Carrying amount: MREE :
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE—NFE=A=+—H 230,572 - 60,629 291,201
At 31 March 2013 RZZ—=F=A=+—H 336,988 506 37,170 374,664
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ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

16 Goodwill 16 @&
HK$#E T

Cost AR
At 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013, RNZE——FMWA—H —FT—=F=A=+—H8"

1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 T =FPUA—HBE_ZENFE=A=+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation R
At 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013, W-B——#mA—R —E-—=#=A=+—0 -

1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 —E—=FNA-—HER-ZE—NF=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss ZRREEE
At 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013, W-T——&#mA—A - —F—=#=A=+—A -

1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 —E——FEMA-ABAN_ZTNE=A=1+—H 6,338,616

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2014

MR EI &

R-ZE—MHE=A=+—H =

At 31 March 2013

NZZE—=F=A=+—H =

17 Investments in subsidiaries

17 HEQARRKRE

The company

FN/NE|
2014 == —MF 2013 =F—=4%
HK$E T HK$E 7T
Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE (REKA) 4,000,000 4,000,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUR BT BB A RIIR 5K 30,604,530 27,868,030
Less: Impairment loss B B ESIE (27,868,030) (27,868,030)
2,736,500 -
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free FEUS KB A ARG REER - £ 8 RAEEKE
and repayable on demand. &
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries NTREEZEARARNAEE BEXEBENMNEA
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BlEETE © BRELAASN - FTRF B AT @AR o

group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

17 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

17 HELARRKRE (&)

Place of Percentage of Particulars of
incorporation/ ownership issued and Principal
Name of company establishment interest paid up capital activities
R FritiRE EBITR
NEIES FR AL i B HEZL BRBRANFE TEEK
Indirect
e
2014 2013
—E-mE —T—=F
ITE Smartcard Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 shares of Provision of smartcard systems
Solutions Limited B8 HK$1 each and related services and sales
BERGARAA 3,418,336M% of service related products
(BRmEME1T) R R R A RABRIART &
SHE BRI AR R E

RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research of

B HK$1 each smartcard system and service

2% (BREME1T) related products
EERMEERRZSUERER
ITE (China) Limited (Note) PRC 100% 100%  United States dollars Provision of smartcard systems
BB RS RRL H ("US$") 700,000 and related services
ARAF (i) 700,000% 7T REBRERRG R ARRRTS
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 6,500,000 shares of Provision of IT consultancy
ERIZAGERERAR B HK$1 each services
6,500,000% R B AR R R
(BREET)

ITE Sistema (Macau) Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems

Limitada Pl
BERg (ORM) BRAR

("MOP") 25,000
25,0008 7%

and related services and sales

of service related products
RUED R RS RAABRSE X

HERBIEAER

Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an
operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

HiEE

ERIFEZRRIBHEAKEARFEXEAR
AEBFEETIZARTONMNBAR - EERA

EERNYEKEERGERABA—REINER
¥ ogESA—t+F R_TE-_—FX A=+
HiEm °

Wi E A RNFBEHEEBREANITE
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ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

18 Inventories 18 =&
Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position REREMBRARNTFERSRE !
comprise:
The group
rEE
2014 —Z=—MF 2013 =F—=%
HK$#E T HK$/57T
Raw materials ERE 507,243 569,786
Work in progress ERR 387,576 392,863
Finished goods RIRK o 291,205 264,960
1,186,024 1,227,609
19 Trade and other receivables 19 FEWES R HAmEWRES
The group The company
Py 3L RAF]
2014 —ZE—NFE 2013 _FT—=%F 2014=FT-0F 2013 _FT—=F
HKS$7E 7T HK$H T HK$7E T HK$#TT
Trade receivables FEUE ZIER 2,285,685 3,795,879 = -
Other receivables H A FEWTIR 5K 618,567 487,967 - -
Gross amount due from W 1 AR TS
customers for service SHTRFIE
contract work (note 20) @z (fizE20) 793,336 806,181 - -
Retention money receivables JEWRE & 420,285 442,172 - -
Deposits and prepayments AekFEER 1,098,197 760,800 194,233 168,760
5,216,070 6,292,999 194,233 168,760
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain rental BRRALBEERT S MEKIRE S RE661,6798 T (=
deposits and retention money receivables of HK$661,679 (2013: T—=%:410,13787x) 5 - REEAEEYE
HK$410,137), of the group are expected to be recovered or S R E M ERIRRTEIR —FRA K E S EREE
recognised as expenses within one year. A e
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

19 Trade and other receivables (continued) 19 BWEZRHEMERIIER (F)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the (a) RIBEHAREWE ZIRZKXAIRE 20
end of the reporting period is as follows: TS :
The group
rEE
2014 == —MF 2013 Z=—=%
HK$E T HK$#E 7T
Current ZKHA 559,519 1,606,414
Less than 1 month past due B AR —1{E A 1,032,837 1,546,742
1 month to 3 months past due BE—EAE=EA 688,829 328,202
More than 3 months but less than B EER R = A B DR —F
1 year past due 4,500 314,521
Amounts past due BES R 1,726,166 2,189,465
2,285,685 3,795,879
Trade receivables are due within 45 days (2013: 45 days) from the EHREBESRFBERBRISK (ZT—=4F:45
date of billing. Further details on the group’s credit policy are set R) AEE - FIEHNMFE29() A K B8 5 E K
out in note 29(a). K e
Trade receivables that are not impaired (b) REREMNEIKEZIRXR

(b)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired are set out in note 19(a).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

RHTE19(a) BUE 5 IR TRV IR B 5 7 YR B B0 3k
2 EPE ERE

FE YR FOL B A ZIRER RN E PR B R

EBHEREFERERENBUTPEARAEES
RIFFER - RBBELR  ERERELEERY
EREEREEREL R R R ERE R 2 8= FTIA
BAEELRELEE - NAEBRARB WL FEEBRER
B s R -
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ire MRS HRaRbT EE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20 Service contracts in progress

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

20 ETHHRBESLN

The group
AEE
2014 —F—mF 2013 =F— =%
HKS$E T HK$7 7T
Contract costs incurred plus recognised ESBEERAINEERFRE
profits less recognised losses to date 7R R B EE 2,567,908 3,005,034
Less: Progress billings B EENRERE (2,049,021) (2,575,224)
518,887 429,810
Gross amount due from customers for FEREFHRIEE A T2
service contract work (note 19) SIELREE (FFFE19) 793,336 806,181
Gross amount due to customers for FENEEHRIEE T2
service contract work (note 23) FIEAEE (Mi5E23) (274,449) (376,371)
518,887 429,810

21 Financial assets at fair value through profit 21

gi@ﬁéﬂﬁﬁi’&qzﬁlﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬂﬁ

or loss
The group
rEE
2014 —Z—MNF 2013 —F—=%
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T

Listed securities — held-for-trading LETES —HEER
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — EBNERES 1,006,320 751,260
Market value of listed securities ETESFNMISER 1,006,320 751,260

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid

prices in an active market.

80 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

22 Cash and cash equivalents 22 BHEaRBELEZEY
The group The company
rEE AAF
2014 —Z—mFE 2013 —Z—=%F 2014 =ZF—N0F 2013 —&B—=%
HKS#E T HK$ AT HKSB T HK$ 7T
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHRS 5,264,301 3,595,382 594,850 456,855
Time deposits TFHIER 3,951,254 4,101,925 - -
9,215,555 7,697,307 594,850 456,855
Less: Pledged bank deposits  J& : B3R (2,018,503) (2,212,053) = =
Cash and bank balances A TR RA
in the consolidated Be MIRTTHE A
statement of financial
position 7,197,052 5,485,254 594,850 456,855
Less: Time deposits with B A=A AR
terms over three months ABHEHER - (629,300)
Cash and cash equivalents &AL RERK
in the consolidated Re MREEEY
statement of cash flows 7,197,052 4,855,954

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed

rate. Time deposits are made for terms of three to six months

(2013: three to twelve months), depending on the immediate cash

requirements of the group.

Pledged bank deposits are pledged to banks to secure banking

facilities granted to the group.

B E HA 17 AR B2 (&) 7 ) 2R B A B LS

RITHF A

BURA MR RIBE S BRITEHERF Rim & o
EHEFRGFEH=2-"@R (ZE—=F: =2+
BR) RIAEEERSFRNESREME °

AEBEERTRHN —RBITREASERRTE

RAEHEA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

23 Trade and other payables 23 EFNEZRHEAMESIRR
The group The company
rEE AT
2014 —Z—NE 2013 =-F—=F 2014=FT-FE 2013-_F—=F
HKS$E T HK$#TT HKS$# T HK$ETT
Trade payables JERTE SRR 285,857 496,115 = -
Accrued charges and [T BRAREAM
other payables FEIRR 2,289,561 2,757,777 337,000 345,062
Gross amount due to e = P ) AR TS
customers for service BHITIEHIE
contract work (note 20) g (fiiE20) 274,449 376,371 - -
Deferred maintenance EEREWRA
income 1,572,790 1,948,176 - -
4,422,657 5,578,439 337,000 345,062
All of the trade and other payables of the group are expected AREBNENE S R EMEMRERBERR—ER
to be settled or recognised as income within one year or are ek EEREERERSWA o

repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RBEER  RBZHHAERENE S IRANIRE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT
The group
rEE
2014 = —MF 2013 == —=%
HK$#E T HK$E T

Less than 1 month LR —M@EA 244,012 315,679
1 month to 3 months —Z={EH 41,845 94,728
More than 3 months but less than 1 year HBRA=EAEBEIR—F = =
More than 1 year BB —F - 85,708
285,857 496,115
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

24 Provisions

24 BB

The group &M

Employee Defect liability
benefits period
(note (a)) (note(b)) Total
EEEF fRE A
(FtzE(a)) (Fff=E(b)) &5t
HK$#E T HK$# 7T HK$# 7T
At 1 April 2012 R-_ZE——FMA—H 75,723 593,322 669,045
Additional provisions recognised FEIMEREHR (FIaE6()
(note 6(c)) 109,478 644,604 754,082
Reversal of unused provisions REDF R (FFE6()
(note 6(c)) (139,834) (651,441) (791,275)
At 31 March 2013 and RZZE—=%=A=+—H
1 April 2013 E—ZF—=FmA—H 45,367 586,485 631,852
Additional provisions recognised EIMEEEHR (FiEE6()
(note 6(c)) 65,702 452,530 518,232
Reversal of unused provisions REDF R (FiFE6()
(note 6(c)) (77,556) (733,650) (811,206)
At 31 March 2014 RZE—NFE=A=+—H 33,513 305,365 338,878
Notes: B2
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EERABEIERE FBRREMNFHREME -
and compensation claims made by employees.
(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) REPRENIREEE TEESERRGNMGEE

cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted
for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period

because the effect would not be material.

TRAA - AR REDREHENERZET
R HORBAHEBERMBRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25

(a)

(b)

(o)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

25

(a)

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

e MR RSB

A RBIRRRTEHIE

The group
rEE
2014 = —MF 2013 == — =%
HKS$38 T HK$E 7T
Provisional profits tax refunded/(paid) REl (B BEFIGH 4,343 (7,556)
Balance of profits tax provision relating dETFERGHEEER
to prior years 19,711 27,267
Income tax payable FER RS 24,054 19,711

Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 March 2014, the group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately
HK$41,750,000 (2013: HK$43,457,000) and deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$452,000 (2013: HK$413,000)
due to the uncertainty of the related tax benefits being
realised through future taxable profits. The unused tax losses
of approximately HK$3,395,000 (2013: HK$3,854,000) can be
carried forward for offset against the taxable profits of subsequent
years for five years following the loss year. Other unused tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities

At 31 March 2014, there were no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities (2013: HK$Nil).

ITE (Holdings) Limited

(b)

()

AERIELERIBEE

RZZT—ME=A=1+—8 ' B BENERT =
MERNBEBBHNELTEE - AEBEFIFIE
BB R i AR AR AR IHE E4) /241,750,000
JL (ZZ—=14F : 43,457,000/870) * MARERHEL
I 2= B8 41 /A452,000%8 7T (ZZ — =4 : 413,000
JL) ° RFERETE#)3,395,0008 L (ZE—=F :
3,854,000/ 7T ) AJ FA LA ¥ 245 2 5 18 55 [F 12 R 2R
FEHERBOGH - 0 E A BRI A K A o

ELEBEEE

REZE-—OF=A=+—H  WREERMERRHE
RELEFRIAEE (ZZ—=F : T#x) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$25,000 effective from 1 June
2012. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$538,123 (2013: HK$641,035).

Share options schemes

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

26

27

B TRKER

AEBZEBRGEABESH G AREEEE
RG] BLEERRIZ IR B R ERFR NGB E
BREEREHEGIEATRSFE (RESFE]) < %
A B AR EHKERARE - Y HBIERE
SEE - REBESHE BEERERELBERE
SRMANFEN-%RRESFEHT MEAE
B FT & LR 325000087 AT ——F/NA—
B4R - A HEFGREE TS -

ARRPH BB A R E E IR T A ZRE B
BihiE B2 TIE R ARG 8] o M B A FRR T
BAMRKRTERENL ZAREEATE(EH A
FEHY (R

REBRAFEEFABSNEREFFEERE
538,123 7L (ZZ—=% : 641,03587T) °

B

ARRET-T—— 5538 EENHAEEEE
RIEMBERIT AERERHERGLRE - —F—
—FHAAEREBRARNES  HhEBEYHE
WITEE  AKBHEMES  EmRREHER -
BEF BAE  —T—— &38R _F——F/\H
NBEREX - BREBUHSE RSN - BSRENE i
STERBR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27

Share options schemes (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of shares
of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the 2011
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share option is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

BRESTE (&)

SEATEE P R AR T2 #9 B X BB A i ok BN i 77 fiE
MARE =T ——F5t 3| R E M BB SR
o EBTHRNEBE TEBBARRDETER
#30% ° IMEA+—EAHA - ARE =T ——F
st R EMEMBRESSHSUAERER RN
MERNEE - ExE LRAXFAERHCHTRMOK
1% (B H I EREBEER H - ARBERA
BRI

MESE - THRAER - RRRRRSEERKHR
B - ARCKLBIIFAITESE - IS &
FABAKRR - ARBLIFNTE R EEAKH
PR B A E - WEM+—EABAZ R A EK
ME0. 1% HAE RERILE R QA KM BB
) BRABEET  ARNBRRASEBRAE -

ERTREREEZIREHEBBEREN -+ X
W BB BTHREBERRZELRE - K
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AR UNREREERERS TR BT
F R-T——FtEA MRS -
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(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE=ZF—

mE=A=+—HIEFRE (LETIIE)

Share options schemes (continued) 27 WBRAESHE (&)
Up to 31 March 2014, no share options were granted, exercised HE-_T—NF=A=+—H1Ft ' WEHEMER
or lapsed. R TT@M&%%& o
At 31 March 2014, the number of share options outstanding and R-ZE—NEFE=A=+—H ' —FT——F:t&7%
exercisable under the 2011 Scheme was none. ITHARIDEL B 2 Rl AR
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or BRETEXTHEAKIRERRRRASRE
to vote at shareholders’ meetings. HIRER -
Capital and reserves 28 EBEXK#E
Share capital (@) B=A&
The company (i) RNAF]
2014 =2 —UF 2013 =2 —=F
Number of shares HK$ Number of shares HK$
RIDEE BT PRt BT
Authorised: EERA :
Ordinary shares of FREE0.0178 LA
HK$0.01 each AR 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued BREITRARRA
and fully paid: TR
At 1 April RYA—H 930,592,000 9,305,920 930,592,000 9,305,920
Repurchase of shares il
(note 28(a)(i)) (P =E28(a)ii)) (1,048,000) (10,480) - -
At 31 March =A=+—H 929,544,000 9,295,440 930,592,000 9,305,920
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as BT A A B SR U AT S R B B8 ﬂﬁﬁ%
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RAEE S T IEER—ERERRL - FIEEE

at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the company’s residual assets.

EAREERGEE T ERRSFHA
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28

(a)

(ii)

(b)

(i)

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

Capital and reserves (continued) 28 EXRK#E (&)
Share capital (continued) (a) B=& (&)
Repurchase of shares (ii) Bl FE AR 17
In the year ended 31 March 2013, the company did not RZZE—=F=A=1T—HHFE XRFEER
repurchase its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange. During RGMBELTRAREGS KT —MFEF=A=1+—
the year ended 31 March 2014, the company repurchased its own HOFEE  ARAIRRZFEE N5 E@RkG o
ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:
2014 ZZ—UF
Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate BRI AER
Month/year £/ A repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
[l FE % 17 24 B X T4 4] &I
HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$# 7T

July 2013 —E—=F+A 1,048,000 58,047 0.055 0.055
1,048,000 shares repurchased in July 2013 were subsequently 1,048,000k B fE IR AR —E—=F+ A= - I
cancelled in March 2014. The issued share capital of the company R-ZE—NF= APHass  MARQAEBITRA
was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The premium MEZERMDAEE T o 4 KA E ERD 5
paid on the repurchase of the shares of HK$47,567 in current year 475678 T (ZE—=F : Z) H5EBRRHEENAN
(2013: HK$Nil) was charged to share premium account. g o
Reserves (b) &
The group 0) AREE

The amounts of the group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

28 Capital and reserves (continued)

(b)

(ii)

(0

(i)

28 EXKf#EE (&)

Reserves (continued) (b) f#f&E (&)
The company (i) RAF]
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R E Z5HE5E &t
HK$7E 7T HK$/E7T HK$E 7T
Balance at 1 April 2012 R-ZT——FMA—H&H% 24,999,082 (30,523,315) (5,524,233)
Profit for the year F R 498,866 498,866
Balance at 31 March 2013 and R-E—=F=A=+—H
1 April 2013 NZT—=FA—H#H% 24,999,082 (30,024,449) (5,025,367)
Repurchase of shares (note 28(a)(ii)) [EE&EAX (BiFE28(a)ii)) (47,567) - (47,567)
Profit for the year A T - 2,966,077 2,966,077
Balance at 31 March 2014 R_ZE—F
—A=1+—H#&% 24,951,515 (27,058,372) (2,106,857)
Nature and purpose of reserves (0 RBENMEREN
Share premium (i) A& 19 5 (8

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

R EENSRAREASHE R RDERARN R RIAR
SRARE  EREBRIFARREREZED K
FIRNIREEH @ AIEEBEEFERET NG
41+ BB AT B M AR 20k MR A B S o AR
1 B IR A] AR ALK 2
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28

(o)

(ii)

(iii)

(d)

(e)

Capital and reserves (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(0).

Distributability of reserves

At both 31 March 2014 and 2013, none of the reserves of the
company is available for distribution to owners of the company.

Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

28 EBEXRKHHE (F)
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(if)

(iii)

(d)

(e)

HENEERBER ()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE=ZF—

Capital and reserves (continued)
Capital management (continued)

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes trade and other payables) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits. Adjusted capital comprises all components
of equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2013, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%.
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new

In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may

shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell

assets to reduce debt.

The major financial covenant for the group’s committed banking
facilities is to maintain the consolidated tangible net worth not less
than HK$10,000,000 during the period of facilities granted. At 31
March 2014, the group had complied with the relevant financial

covenant.
Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. The group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

28

(e)

29

ARe ISR

mE=A=+—HIEFRE (LETIIE)

EXxRiEtE (B)
EXERE (F)

RE IALA@’% BEHEABREA LR SEERRE

BEARRE - gt AEEREEE (BEENES
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BT - RERA TR
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BEMHERBRER
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29

(a)

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 45 days (2013: 45 days)
from the date of billing. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of the
reporting period, the group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 13% (2013: 11%) and 53% (2013: 49%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the statement of financial position. Except for the
financial guarantees given by the company as set out in note 31,
the group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the group or the company to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at
the end of the reporting period is disclosed in note 31.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 19.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Financial risk management and fair values 29 =ZEEREERAFE (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (b) ELRBMEER
The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash REENBEDREEHANHERRESEEY - X
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate HERRTRERHENAIEAREHEE - WHEXNT
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet FELEGFENARIL - NAREFRR 5
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic EEAKERAECRREAENEELESTE LB
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group BEERBESANR
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.
The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end R|ERR  AEEREEHERBENRTRER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted EMINRAT
cash flows, was as follows:
The group rEE
2014 —ZE—NF
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash outflow on demand
ERRITE R—FR
R E{E B REERER
HK$#& T HKS$# T HK$# T
Trade and other payables BN E 5 K E bR IR 2,575,418 2,575,418 2,575,418
2013 == — =%
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash outflow on demand
EHRITE R—FRA
MREE b e SEEKER
HK$# T HK$# 7T HK$# 7T
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 K B A FE SR 50 3,253,892 3,253,892 3,253,892
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

29 Financial risk management and fair values 29 SBEREERATHE (F)

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) E@RBERMR (8)
The maturity profile of the company’s financial liabilities as RBEHAR - AAFMEENSBENRITER
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual MR

undiscounted cash flows, was as follows:

The company AATH
2014 —2—MF 2013 25—=F
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount  cash outflow on demand amount cash outflow  on demand
ERATE R-FAZ BRAR  R—FRK
IREE BEem EERER IRE(E Rend EERER
HK$# T HK$# 7T HKS# T HK$B 7T HK$ETT HK$ T
Accrued charges and FEETER K
other payables HAb IR K 337,000 337,000 337,000 345,062 345,062 345,062
() Interest rate risk (o FIZEREMR
The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits. REERNEEMSEES RBRITEFR - AEEEHF
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market B A M SET 5 H R EF) - {85 R B & B 55K
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the A ERFFE -

group’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates AEI0EEHNSEAEEH IS HAEE R
would have no significant impact on the group’s loss and equity RABAREENGHNNEREESTAZE -

for the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Financial risk management and fair values 29 =ZEEREERAFE (&)
(continued)
Currency risk (d) EERR
The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are HRAEBARIBMNEBRS  BERABHEE
principally denominated in HK$, RMB, MOP and US$. The group LB ~ ARY - RPIE RETIIE - MEARE
has minimal exposure to currency risk as the foreign exchange rate HINEE BB N K o F A A 7T 5 4R 3 BB P B A I
of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is pegged with US$. The group JCHETTA B BIE R - IARE B AT N EEE R
currently does not have a currency hedging policy in respect of BRI o 7N 55 [ 30 RF 34 15 WK 4 T N 0 1 {] 360 b SN EEE K
currency debt. The group will monitor its currency exposure closely Ko NEEGEBERAINEARR - WHREEEH
and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the LASNE 32 B & 40 55 HNE @B
need arise.
The following table details the group’s exposure at the end of the REERBEHRAANIRERERNERER 2
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets JWEREERBEMEEANEBRRFMHNAT
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.
Assets Liabilities
BE aE
2014 —Z—WF 2013 Z&—=4F 2014 —Z— 45 2013 =& —=4
HK$#& T HK$#E 7T HK$# T HK$E 7T

RMB AR 2,018,526 1,899,503 - =

MOP ey 34,602 34,602 = =

us$ ETT 49,106 13,821 - 269,178

A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between
RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$ and US$ to HK$ would have no
significant impact on the group’s profit and equity for the year.

ARBEEBT  BPIREBTRETEE T 2 HE
RN %R ENEHARNEENFE RGN RERILR
BEXRYE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—MNF=A=+—HILFE AETIIE)

cREREERATVE (H)

29 Financial risk management and fair values 29
(continued)

(e)  Equity price risk (e) MRERMR

AEEMNEBBREEATERENSBMEETR

W WANATE B - AAEERTEHRER

% MYRERR  EEEREEHIRENALTH

BB AREES -

The group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value at end of each reporting period. Therefore,
the group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles.

R=ZF—NEFE=A=+—8 " WEMBERLA
TE10% + mE A ] B ERRIFTE - REBAR
Bl mnfigEm md (ZE—=4 8N/
W) 84,0288 (ZT—=4 : 62,730%7T) °

At 31 March 2014, if the market price of the listed equity
securities had increased/decreased by 10% with all other variables
held constant, the group’s profit after tax would have been
HK$84,028 (2013: HK$62,730) higher/lower (2013: higher/lower).
) =EWMIAENEE

(f)  Categories of financial instruments

2014 —F—mF 2013 =F— =4
HKS$#E T HK$A 7T

The group &5 E
Financial assets EEMEE
Loan and receivables (including ERREWIRR (B

cash and bank balances) RE RRITEES) 13,385,449 12,975,037
Fair value through profit or loss BiBERIRIEATE

(held for trading) (FHEEE) 1,006,320 751,260
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BN AN mas 2,575,418 3,253,892
The company A2 7]
Financial assets EEMEE
Loan and receivables (including ESR R EWIR R

cash and bank balances) (BIEIRE RIRITEES) 594,850 456,855
Financial liabilities ==L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HIEK AN SR B E 337,000 345,062

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2014 and 2013.

The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical financial instruments.

Commitments

At 31 March 2014, the total future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

29

(9)

30

EREREER A TVE (F)

AFE

AESRIAMAKRSEEER —Z—NER-F
—=F=RA=t+—HHOAFEESEATH °

FRBRIRRATENSRE EREERSE R
E - NEAERERIARERTS CREHE)
H3RME -

i
R-T-ME=A=+—0  AREREEHNE

WA PR RS HE M AR B &R REHRER
BT

The group
rEH
2014 —ZT— N5 2013 —&2—=%
HKS$#E T HK$ATT
Within 1 year —FR 1,158,324 1,059,506
After 1 year but within 5 years —FBAFN 1,348,710 2,350,471
2,507,034 3,409,977

The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties
and items of office equipment held under operating leases. The
leases typical run for a period of 1 year to 4 years (2013: 1 year
to 4 years) with an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The group and the company did not have any other significant
capital and financial commitments as at 31 March 2014 (2013:
HK$Nil).

AEEAEETR2MENMELRRETRES - H
WE—ME—FENF (ZT—=F: —FENF)
I AR R R 1 T EHTRAT - ZFHAIRE
EfAEE

AEBRARBR -ZE-—MFE=A=+—HIALEE
MEBRNERARIFBAE (ZT—=F: &) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31

32

(a)

(b)

Contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2014, the company has issued corporate guarantees
to a bank in respect of banking facilities, such as revolving
demand loan facility and overdraft facility, granted to a wholly
owned subsidiary (2013: a wholly owned subsidiary). The directors
of the company do not consider it probable that a claim will be
made against the company under any of the guarantees. None
of these banking facilities were drawn down by the subsidiary as
at that date. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
company’s corporate guarantees to the bank have been released
as all the banking facilities to its subsidiary have been released.

Material related party transactions
Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,

represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in
note 8.

Provision of personal guarantees

Two (2013: two) directors of the company have provided personal
guarantees to the extent of approximately HK$4 million (2013:
HK$4 million) to the group in relation to general banking facilities
granted to the group.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

31

32

(a)

(b)

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

HREE

RZZE-—MFE=R=+—H ARFAg—H2EH
BrA (—ZF—=F: —HME2ENBAR) OIRTT
WME (PINEREERERE) RHAXER - A
REESWTRRBARRA A AL E HHEA B B R
MRME - MHTE AR ERBEBRITHE - EX
RAHREHE 2R - RESRMBARMNRITRERD
EEEDY - AR R RITAVEERIRITE SR -

ERBEALRS
BEREEAESME
ARTBREBABMLOELNARAEELE
B FES R

REEAER

ARRMME (ZE—=F: ME) EERALE

& TERITRVE IR A 844,000,000/ 7T (—F—
=4 : 4,000,000/ 7T) HMEALER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—M&=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

Revenue and profit recognition

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budgeted costs of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during

the revision.
Fixed assets and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s fixed assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
fixed assets of a similar nature and function.

33

(a)

(b)

CREEEPSE S VESE -2

ERAAEENSFTRE (FARMNE2) 82 E
SER T IIMEE RAE - RAFGEEREERAE
IRE(EEHRBERE -

Wy 25 K% g R HERR

AEB2EE A ANBETRMELNA DA
EEESHNRABRAOLLAIERESNNTKE
D o MEAEBMELNRERA RN HEE R
RENE - FREZESFEEHRENENCD ER
WARIEE - %I B HFEE KR E 825 K m
ERTHEHIREAEE) - AISIEHERT -

BEEERTE
AEBREAEBETEENGHAEABRAEMH

FEER MELHtEREEBERREZRENE
BRIANEEEENERAERBHmE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33

(0

(d)

(e)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment on trade and other receivables

The policy for impairment on trade and other receivables of the
group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make

payments, additional impairment adjustments may be required.
Write-down of inventories

A write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the consolidated income statement for the period in which such
a recognition or reversal takes place. While the current operations
indicate that the unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future,
any changes in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can

affect the recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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()

(d)

(e)

HE_T-NFE=A=1T—HIFE (XBTIIE)

HETHBRENEERR (&)

FEUWR B 5 I HL fth FE YR iR R B R (R

R (B e W R 5 T EL A R R R (LB 2 AR B
WO R R e 3T A - A R B BR 2 ) AT - ZERT A B
BEPHNEREARMBERSCHETRITE—ERE
B HIET - fHE AEE TP MBSO BEMmSHE
RFREETIRBERE - 157 ERRINRE

FERE

FEITE TR E R K 5T A S BFE - M ERT
B35 KA B R fhEr - ERREBERAERERKER G
RER  AIZEREENERENBRA - 25l
T EFENREERFENHRZSPE

EER IR

Rt EREEEELNECHIEEESRTELE
B R TR R B B0 I RTRA R A AR EE B
ARBANMARBANROENOBRE - MEENE
BRI BN SR ER TR - BT e E £ RTETIA
BRI - T A% R Sk O 0 B [ 5 AR O
HRELG S 2HRERER - WIREEERT AL
REREEBR AR ARE A - RIEMARE - A&
R BR 75 42 ) 0 B2 Bh 7T e 2 & % R AE T 1R B EE RO AT R
B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2014 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE=ZF—

Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2014

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2014 and which have not been adopted in the

consolidated financial statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matters that
may be relevant to the group’s operations and the consolidated

financial statements:

34

ARe ISR

mE=A=+—HIEFRE (LETIIE)

BE_Z-NF=A=t+—HILHF
EEEMERERWNBET - HERA
REREBNEESE

BENSHEVBBRRTEZR  BESHNAE
ERMZIRER]  HEAERE  BERBE-F

ME=ZA=1t—RLEFEMRER  BRRES

BATEERR IR ©

FEELEEXT LT RARERAEENEERER
MIEHERERE

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
HETHBHH 2%
BRHMETHEER

Amendments to HKAS 32,
Financial instruments: Presentation —

et Qe

offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

5325 MEE]
[£BTA . 25 -#HieBEEREHBERE]

1 January 2014
—HF—HA—H

Amendments to HKAS 36, Recoverable amount BB e ERIE365RMERT 1 January 2014
disclosures for non-financial assets [FEE B & ZE AT el 38 K 2R | —mMFE—AF—H
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 21, Levies Bt (BB BREREZES) - 2B1 %R [#E] 1 January 2014
—mFE—HA—H

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2010 — 2012 cycle 2010220125 BB IS s E R0 FE s 1 July 2014
—mEEHA—AR

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2011 - 2013 cycle 201122013 F BB R B S E R F E e 1 July 2014
—MMFEEA—H

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments BEERERIES [2HTA/ Note
Bt

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Mandatory effective BRI EREIR TR MES] Note
date of HKFRS 9 and transition disclosures (BB BT EREIT R 5% B E X AR BEHE ] iiEs2

Note:  Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be

determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised.

The directors have confirmed that the group is in the process of
making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments,
new standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that their
adoption is unlikely to have a significant impact on the group’s
results of operations and financial position.

MizE: FIHER-E5EGERIER 5T TK

1% - SREIEM AR S HE

T RS E ATk TE H %15
BEVIRERAROZE - %\

1B85] ~ FEAREREE TS
ISR AE R E AR o
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Five Year Summary
hFHRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LAETTIIE)

2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10
“B-C-Z2-ME —T-_F-=F —_T——%F_F —E-Tx——F —TTNE-TF
HKSB T HK$ETT HK$BTT HK$B T HK$ BT
Results £
Turnover L] 22,902,210 28,364,577 25,903,461 23,417,680 54,935,393
Profit/(loss) from operations RESET) / (E518) 2,070,026 1,093,371 (1,749,844) (3,333,480) 643,727
Finance costs RERA - (31,711) (83,019) (86,547) (397,161)
Profit/(loss) before Taxation BHANET /(B18) 2,070,026 1,061,660 (1,832,863) (3,420,027) 246,566
Income tax Hiks - - (8,250) (12,047) (42,600)
Profit/(loss) for the year ARREEAER
attributable to owners JEIHER
of the company A/ (B8) 2,070,026 1,061,660 (1,841,113) (3,432,074) 203,966
Assets and liabilities EERER
Fixed assets EEEE 291,201 374,664 42,708 85,440 175,823
Net current assets MBEEFE 11,838,380 9,739,173 9,017,945 11,297,644 11,602,266
Net assets EEFE 12,129,581 10,113,837 9,060,653 11,383,084 11,778,089
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF /(BB
Basic (HK cents) EAR (L) 0.22 0.1 (0.20) (0.38) 0.02
Diluted (HK cents) 58 (5(0) 0.22 0.11 (0.20) (0.38) 0.02

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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